---

**IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF IOWA**  
**No. 21-1968**

---

**LINNHAVEN, INC., and ACCIDENT FUND NATIONAL  
INSURANCE COMPANY/UNITED HEARTLAND,  
Petitioners-Appellants,**

**vs.**

**ROGER BLASDELL, SURVIVING  
SPOUSE OF HEATHER BLASDELL,  
Respondent-Appellee.**

---

**APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
FOR POLK COUNTY,  
HONORABLE CELENE GOGERTY**

---

**PETITIONERS'-APPELLANTS' FINAL BRIEF**

---

Laura Ostrander  
Assistant General Counsel  
Office of the General Counsel  
Accident Fund Holdings, Inc.  
d/b/a AF Group  
P.O. Box 40785  
Lansing, MI 48901-7985  
E-mail:  
laura.ostrander@afgroup.com  
Phone: (517) 708-5973  
Fax: (855) 841-7782

## II. STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

### A. Standard of Review.

Iowa Code § 17A.19

2800 Corp. v. Fernandez, 528 N.W.2d 124 (Iowa 1995)

Evenson v. Winnebago Indus., Inc., 881 N.W.2d 360 (Iowa 2016)

Gits Mfg. Co. v. Frank, 855 N.W.2d 195 (Iowa 2014)

Holmes v. Bruce Motor Freight, Inc., 215 N.W.2d 296 (Iowa 1974)

IBP, Inc. v. Burress, 779 N.W.2d 210 (Iowa 2010)

Koehler Elec. v. Wills, 608 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2000)

Lithcote Co. v. Ballenger, 471 N.W.2d 64 (Iowa App. 1991)

Meyer v. IBP, Inc., 710 N.W.2d 213 (Iowa 2006)

Midwest Ambulance Serv. v. Ruud, 754 N.W.2d 860 (Iowa 2008)

Mike Brooks, Inc. v. House, 843 N.W.2d 885 (Iowa 2014)

Sherman v. Pella Corp., 576 N.W.2d 312 (Iowa 1998)

### B. The Supreme Court Should Reverse the District Court Order that Found Roger Blasdell did not Abandon Heather Blasdell.

Iowa Code § 84.42

Iowa Code § 85.16

Iowa Code § 85.31

James Black Dry Goods Co. v. Iowa Industrial Com'r, 186 Iowa 657, 173 N.W. 23 (1919)

### C. This Court should affirm the District Court's conclusion that the Commissioner's designee had authority to issue the Arbitration Decision.

Iowa Code § 17A.15

Iowa Code § 86.26

**D. This Court should find the Appellants are not barred from raising the defense of spousal abandonment based upon the doctrine of estoppel.**

Iowa Code § 84.42

Tyson Foods, Inc., v. Hedlund, 740 N.W.2d 192 (Iowa 2007)

### **III. ROUTING STATEMENT**

Pursuant to Iowa Rule of Appellate Procedure 6.1101(3)(a), this case should be transferred to the Iowa Court of Appeals because it presents the application of existing legal principles.

### **IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Roger Blasdell filed a Petition alleging he should be permitted to collect death benefits following the death of his estranged legal spouse, Heather Blasdell. Petition, p. 1; App. p. 25. Linnhaven, Inc., denied liability, citing the affirmative defenses that Ms. Blasdell's death was the result of intentional injury and that Mr. Blasdell had willfully abandoned Ms. Blasdell prior to the work-related injury. Answer, p. 2; App. p. 28. The case proceeded to Arbitration Hearing on May 15, 2018, before Deputy Workers' Compensation Commission Erica Fitch. Hearing Report, p. 2; App. p. 31. The issues presented to the Agency at hearing were as follows:

1. Whether Roger Blasdell was barred from receiving death benefits based upon the doctrine of spousal abandonment pursuant to Iowa Code section 84.42(1)(a).

2. Whether Roger Blasdell was barred from receiving death benefits based upon the Claimant's intentional suicide and the affirmative defense of intentional injury pursuant to Iowa Code section 85.16(1).

3. Whether the Agency should adopt the rate calculated by the Defendants or the rate calculated by the Claimant.

On July 12, 2019, Commissioner Joseph Cortese II filed an Order of Delegation of Authority stating as follows: "Pursuant to Iowa Code section 17A.15(2) the authority for issuing a proposed decision in this matter will be assigned to Deputy Workers' Compensation Commission Stephanie J. Copley due to the present unavailability of Deputy Workers' Compensation Commissioner Erica J. Fitch." Order of Delegation of Authority, p. 1; App. p. 226. Claimant's Counsel filed no objection to the Order of Delegation of Authority. Claimant's Counsel filed no appeal from the Order of Delegation of Authority. Finally, Claimant's Counsel did not submit an Amended Post-Hearing Brief objecting to the Order of Delegation of Authority. On August 6, 2019, Deputy Copley issued an Arbitration Decision finding Mr. Blasdell "willfully deserted Heather [Blasdell] and therefore is not entitled to death benefits." Arb. Dec., p. 11; App. p. 238. Deputy Copley issued a Rehearing Decision addressing the Claimant's demeanor on July 24, 2020. Rehearing Dec., p. 1; App. p. 263. The Claimant subsequently filed a Notice of Appeal

to the Commissioner. Notice of Appeal, p. 1; App. p. 269. Claimant's Counsel's Appeal Brief contained the first objection to the Order of Delegation of Authority. Claimant's Agency Appeal Brief, p. 3.

On June 8, 2021, Commissioner Cortese issued an Appeal Decision finding that the Claimant waived any argument that the demeanor hearing was an inadequate remedy. App. Dec., p. 4; App. p. 274. Commissioner Cortese also found the Claimant "did not object to the demeanor hearing[,]” and he “did not argue, at the July 20, 2020 hearing, that the demeanor hearing was an inadequate remedy.” App. Dec., p. 4; App. p. 274. The Commissioner found that the doctrines of judicial estoppel and res judicata did not bar the Defendants from raising the issue of Mr. Blasdell's marital status as an issue in the case. App. Dec., p. 5; App. p. 275. The Commissioner also concluded Mr. Blasdell willfully deserted Ms. Blasdell prior to the work injury, so he was not entitled to collect her permanent total disability benefits. App. Dec., p. 7; App. p. 277.

The Claimant filed a Petition for Judicial Review on July 8, 2021. Petition for Judicial Review, p. 1; App. p. 279. The Defendants timely filed an Answer to the Petition for Judicial Review on July 16, 2021. Answer to Petition for Judicial Review, p. 1; App. p. 291. On December 6, 2021, District Judge Celene Gogerty issued a Ruling on Petitioner's Application

for Judicial Review. Ruling on Petition for Judicial Review, p. 1; App. p. 293. Judge Gogerty found Mr. Blasdell was not prejudiced by the delegation of authority to another Deputy to issue the Arbitration Decision. Ruling on Petition for Judicial Review, p. 5; App. p. 297. The judge also found that the “findings d[id] not support the contention that [the] Claimant abandoned Heather.” Ruling on Petition for Judicial Review, p. 7; App. p. 299. Judge Gogerty then remanded the case to the Commissioner to determine whether Ms. Blasdell’s suicide precluded the award of her workers’ compensation benefits to her estranged spouse. Ruling on Petition for Judicial Review, p. 8; App. p. 300.

## **V. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

Heather Blasdell filed a Petition in Arbitration demanding workers’ compensation benefits from Linnhaven, Inc., because of an injury to the right foot, back, body as a whole, and a mental injury on November 5, 2012. Arb. Dec. pp. 1 – 2; App. pp. 4 – 5. The claim proceeded to hearing on October 7, 2014, and Deputy Workers’ Compensation Commissioner Erin Pals awarded permanent total disability benefits. Arb. Dec. pp. 1, 15; App. pp. 4, 18. The Defendants timely filed an appeal. Notice of Appeal, p. 1. An appeal decision was issued on May 20, 2016, that affirmed the award of

permanent total disability. Appeal Decision, p. 1; App. p. 24. At the Arbitration Hearing, Deputy Pals considered only the following issues:

1. Whether the injury was the cause of any temporary disability, including temporary total disability benefits, from September 27, 2013, to October 2, 2014.

2. What, if any, permanent disability the Claimant sustained as a result of the November 5, 2012 injury.

3. Whether the Claimant was entitled to payment of past medical expenses.

4. Whether the Claimant was entitled to penalty benefits.

5. Whether the Claimant was entitled to costs.

Arb. Dec. pp. 1 – 2; App. pp. 4 – 5. The Deputy could not issue any decision regarding the affirmative defense of intentional injury because Ms. Blasdell was alive at the time of hearing; this affirmative defense was not applicable until her death by intentional suicide on September 9, 2016. Arb. Dec. pp. 1 – 15; Ex. JE2, p. 1; App. pp. 4 – 19; 50.

The Manchester Police Department was called to Ms. Blasdell's residence on September 9, 2016, for a report that she was cold, had no pulse, and was not breathing. Ex. JE2, p. 1; App. p. 50. The officer who arrived at Ms. Blasdell's property was met by Steven Kephart, who was a neighbor to



Ms. Blasdell, and Austen Burrridge. Ex. JE2, p. 3; App. p. 52. Mr. Kephart informed the responding officer that Ms. Blasdell “was dead.” Ex. JE2, p. 3; App. p. 52. The officer noted Ms. Blasdell had no signs of life, and rigor mortis had set in. Ex. JE2, p. 3; App. p. 52.

Both Mr. Kephart and Mr. Burrridge stated Ms. Blasdell “has had suicide attempts in the past and was recently hospitalized for an attempt.” Ex. JE2, p. 3; App. p. 52. They also stated, “Heather and her boyfriend had recently broken up a day or a couple of days prior.” Ex. JE2, p. 3; App. p. 52. The officer located a lockbox in the bedroom of Ms. Blasdell’s residence and noted there were approximately 10 – 15 pill bottles inside, and “[s]everal of these pill bottles didn’t have any medications in them even though they were prescribed only a couple of days earlier.” Ex. JE2, p. 4; App. p. 53. The responding officer also found a handwritten suicide note from Ms. Blasdell. Ex. JE2, p. 4; App. p. 53. Ms. Blasdell’s suicide note did not reference Roger Blasdell in any manner. Ex. JE2, p. 5; App. p. 54. Instead, Ms. Blasdell asked Mr. Kephart in the suicide note to take care of her “fur babies.” Ex. JE2, p. 4; Ex. JE2, p. 5; App. pp. 54 – 55. The responding officer concluded in his report that Ms. Blasdell “either had an accidental overdose on 2 different types of medications or a successful

suicide attempt with these 2 different types of medications.” Ex. JE2, p. 4; App. p. 4.

An autopsy was performed by Dr. Dennis Klein on September 10, 2016. Ex. JE1, pp. 1 – 2; App. pp. 36 – 37. Dr. Klein concluded the cause of death was “[m]ixed drug (quetiapine and zolpidem) intoxication.” Ex. JE2, p. 2; App. p. 51. Dr. Klein observed that according to investigative reports, the “decedent had a past medical history of depression, low back pain, and suicide attempts by overdose of medications.” Ex. JE1, p. 6; App. p. 41. Dr. Klein also observed that “an unsigned, undated suicide note was found with some papers on the decedent’s bed.” Ex. JE1, p. 6; App. p. 41.

Following the Claimant’s suicide, the Defendants engaged the services of a private investigator to determine whether Roger Blasdell had abandoned Heather Blasdell both at the time of the alleged injury on November 5, 2012, and at the time Ms. Blasdell committed suicide on September 9, 2016. Ex. JE3, p. 5; App. p. 61. The investigator spoke with Angela Lee, a former girlfriend of Mr. Blasdell, on November 27, 2017, and she stated, “she broke up with Roger Blasdell in March 2017, after a 6-year relationship.” Ex. JE3, p. 5; App. p. 61. Therefore, Ms. Lee had been in a romantic relationship with Mr. Blasdell since 2011 despite his legal marriage to Ms. Blasdell and well before the work injury. Ex. JE3, p. 5; App. p. 61.

Ms. Lee stated Mr. Blasdell “claimed he was consistently unable to get ahold of Heather to coordinate anything.” Ex. JE3, p. 5; App. p. 61.

When Roger Blasdell filed his income tax return in 2011, he certified to the IRS that he was filing separately from Heather Blasdell. Ex. JE4, p. 1; App. p. 70. Mr. Blasdell again filed separately from Heather Blasdell in 2012, and he filed in the same manner in 2013. Ex. JE4, pp. 5, 9; App. pp. 74, 78. Defense counsel asked Mr. Blasdell at hearing whether the tax returns he had provided to the Defendants were certified IRS copies of tax returns, and he testified that they were simply copies of tax returns he kept for himself at home. Hearing Transcript, p. 30; App. p. 214. The Defendants were unable to timely obtain actual certified copies of Mr. Blasdell’s tax returns from the IRS due to multiple delays from Mr. Blasdell and his attorney refusing to completely fill out signed authorizations to release tax returns and disclose Mr. Blasdell’s social security number, which is a requirement to obtain tax returns from the IRS. Ex. F, pp. 1 – 6; App. pp. 179 – 184.

The Defendants’ investigation into the claim was also hindered by Mr. Blasdell’s refusal to respond to discovery requests and objections to interrogatories. Ex. D, p. 2; App. p. 169. Mr. Blasdell should have provided the Defendants with detailed information regarding Heather Blasdell’s

suicide or accidental overdose, which is the argument he later asserted at hearing. Ex. D, p. 2; App. p. 169. Instead, he objected to providing any information regarding Ms. Blasdell's death in response to valid interrogatories propounded by the Defendants. Ex. D, p. 2; App. p. 169. Mr. Blasdell also initially refused to provide any information regarding individuals he was romantically involved with after he abandoned Ms. Blasdell in 2011, as he claimed it was "not relevant to a claim for death benefits." Ex. D, p. 5; App. p. 172. At the time Mr. Blasdell raised this objection, the Defendants had already asserted the affirmative defense of spousal abandonment, placing the relevance of Mr. Blasdell's romantic relationships with other parties during his legal marriage to Ms. Blasdell at the forefront of the claim. Answer, p. 3; App. p. 30.

When Mr. Blasdell completed paperwork for his employer, XL Specialized Trailers, he did not list Heather Blasdell as an emergency contact, and he also certified to his employer that he was single. Ex. E, pp. 1 – 2; App. pp. 175 – 176. Although the Claimant attempted to allege at hearing that he only filled out emergency contact paperwork in 2017, he provided no explanation for why his personnel file contained no earlier emergency contact designation forms. Hearing Transcript, pp. 22 – 23; App. pp. 206 – 207. It is also telling that when Mr. Blasdell filled out a W-4 form

for his employer in 2011, he stated he was single. Ex. E, p. 3; App. p. 177. Furthermore, Mr. Blasdell stated he was single on a W-4 form he completed in 2015. Ex. E, p. 4. In Mr. Blasdell's deposition, he testified Heather Blasdell was a beneficiary of his health insurance. Ex. JE5, p. 3, Dep. p. 9; App. p. 84. However, he admitted at hearing that he produced no actual documentation supporting this assertion. Hearing Transcript, p. 21; App. p. 205. Mr. Blasdell also testified in his deposition that Heather Blasdell was a beneficiary on his life insurance policy as of November 5, 2012. Ex. JE5, p. 3, Dep. p. 10; App. p. 84. Again, Mr. Blasdell testified at hearing that he did not produce any health insurance documentation in support of this allegation. Ex. JE5, p. 3, Dep. p. 10; App. p. 84.

Mr. Blasdell claimed that as of November 5, 2012, Ms. Blasdell was listed as a driver of his vehicles under his car insurance policies. Ex. JE5, p. 3, Dep. p. 11; App. p. 84. At hearing, he admitted that he again produced no documentation to support this allegation. Hearing Transcript, p. 21; App. p. 205. According to Mr. Blasdell, as November 5, 2012, Ms. Blasdell was renting property separately from him in Cedar Rapids, and he was not listed on Ms. Blasdell's lease. Ex. JE5, p. 3, dep. p. 12; App. p. 84. Mr. Blasdell testified at hearing that as of the date of the initial workers' compensation injury, Ms. Blasdell was living with a friend, Kyle Cunard (spelling

unknown). Ex. JE5, p. 3, dep. p. 12; Hearing Transcript, pp. 21 – 22; App. pp. 84, 205 – 206. He admitted in his deposition that he never lived with Ms. Blasdell in 2012 at her property in Cedar Rapids. Ex. JE5, p. 4, dep. p. 15; App. p. 85. By 2012, he was living separately from Ms. Blasdell at his own property in Manchester, Iowa. Ex. JE5, p. 4, dep. pp. 13 – 14; App. pp. 85. Mr. Blasdell testified he began living separately from Ms. Blasdell in February 2011. Ex. JE5, p. 4, dep. p. 16; App. p. 85. He testified that he separated from Ms. Blasdell because of differences over finances, and he specifically stated he did not want to pay for Ms. Blasdell's expenses. Ex. JE5, p. 5, dep. p. 18; App. p. 86.

Although Mr. Blasdell claimed that from 2012 until the date of Ms. Blasdell's suicide, he saw her almost weekly, he provided no evidence aside from his own testimony of this fact. Ex. JE5, p. 5, dep. p. 19; App. p. 86. Although Mr. Blasdell claimed he gave Ms. Blasdell cash every week, he admitted he had no receipts or records proving these alleged payments actually occurred. Ex. JE5, p. 5, dep. pp. 19 – 20; App. pp. 86. Mr. Blasdell's admission that he separated from Ms. Blasdell because he did not want to pay for her expenses directly contradicts his later claim that he provided her with cash on a weekly basis. Ex. JE5, p. 5, dep. pp. 18 – 20; App. pp. 86. Despite Mr. Blasdell's claim that he spoke with Ms. Blasdell

on the phone weekly from 2012 until the date of her death, he provided no phone records proving this allegation. Ex. JE5, p. 5, dep. p. 20; App. p. 86. The only document Mr. Blasdell offered at hearing revealing any communications from Ms. Blasdell was a one-page sheet containing messages from Ms. Blasdell regarding a phone bill for her daughter. Ex. B, p. 1; App. p. 166. Mr. Blasdell provided no credible explanation at hearing for why he produced absolutely no other records of his purported communications with Ms. Blasdell. Hearing Transcript, p. 26; App. p. 26. The messages shown on Ex. B, p. 1, do not even reveal a responsive message from Mr. Blasdell to Ms. Blasdell, indicating he never responded to her. Ex. B, p. 1; App. p. 166.

Despite being legally married to Ms. Blasdell, Mr. Blasdell met his girlfriend, Angela Lee, in 2011 and moved in with her in 2012. Ex. JE5, p. 6, dep. pp. 21 – 22; App. pp. 87. He lived with Ms. Lee at his separate property in Manchester, Iowa. Ex. JE5, p. 6, dep. p. 24; App. p. 87. Mr. Blasdell admitted he did not have any sexual relationship with Ms. Blasdell since he separated from her. Ex. JE5, pp. 6 – 7, dep. pp. 24 – 25; App. pp. 87 – 88. In Mr. Blasdell's testimony, he was asked whether Ms. Blasdell provided any financial support to him from 2012 until the date she committed suicide. Ex. JE5, p. 7, dep. p. 25; App. p. 88. Mr. Blasdell

stated, “I think she might have given me money once.” Ex. JE5, p. 7, dep. p. 25; App. p. 88. Mr. Blasdell changed this testimony at hearing and claimed that Ms. Blasdell provided him with cash “[p]robably maybe five times a year.” Hearing Transcript, p. 28; App. p. 212. Mr. Blasdell admitted that Ms. Blasdell did not share any of her workers’ compensation benefits with him from 2012 until the date of her suicide. Ex. JE5, p. 7, dep. p. 25; App. p. 88. He also engaged in no conversations with Ms. Blasdell about sharing her workers’ compensation benefits with him. Ex. JE5, p. 7, dep. pp. 25 – 26; App. pp. 88. Mr. Blasdell was not listed as a beneficiary on any Last Will and Testament that Ms. Blasdell may have left. Ex. JE5, p. 7, dep. p. 26; App. p. 88. In his deposition, Mr. Blasdell testified that he did not receive any cash or property from Ms. Blasdell’s estate. Ex. JE5, p. 7, dep. p. 26; App. p. 88. At hearing, he changed his testimony and claimed he removed several items of sentimental value from Ms. Blasdell’s apartment. Hearing Transcript, p. 31; App. p. 215.

Mr. Blasdell did not testify at Heather Blasdell’s workers’ compensation hearing. Ex. JE5, p. 7, dep. p. 26; App. p. 88. He admitted he was never asked to testify by Ms. Blasdell’s attorney. Ex. JE5, p. 7, dep. p. 2; App. p. 88. Ms. Blasdell was deposed by former defense attorney Thomas Wolle on January 24, 2014. Ex. A, p. 1; App. p. 144. She testified

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