IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

---

SUPREME COURT NO: 21-1968

---

LINNHAVEN, INC and ACCIDENT FUND NATIONAL  
INSURANCE COMPANY/UNITED HEARTLAND  
Petitioners-Appellants,

vs.

ROGER BLASDELL, SURVIVING SPOUSE OF  
HEATHER BLASDELL  
Respondent-Appellee.

---

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY  
THE HONORABLE CELENE GOGERTY

---

APPELLEE'S FINAL BRIEF and  
REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

---

Thomas M. Wertz AT0008423  
Mindi M. Vervaecke AT0008117  
WERTZ LAW FIRM  
1500 Center Street NE  
P.O. Box 849  
Cedar Rapids, IA 52406-0849  
(319) 861-3001  
(319) 861-3007 (Facsimile)  
Email: [twertz@wertzlaw.com](mailto:twertz@wertzlaw.com)

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

## ARGUMENT

### **I. The District Court Correctly Determined that Roger Blasdell Did Not Willfully Abandon His Wife, Heather and She Was Not Without Fault, and That The Agency Misapplied the Law to the Facts When Making Such Finding.**

#### **A. Preservation for Appellate Review**

Blasdell agrees Linnhaven preserved error by timely filing their Appeal of the District Court's Order on Judicial Review. It should be noted at this point that the ONLY issue on appeal is whether Blasdell deserted his wife, thereby preventing him from getting survivor benefits due to her death. Linnhaven briefed the previously-raised issues of the delegation of authority by the agency and an estoppel argument made by Blasdell. However, Blasdell did not appeal these issues and therefore they are not before this Court. Additionally, the District Court held that since the Agency never reached the issue as to whether Heather's death related back to her work-injury, that issue is to be remanded back to the Agency. Any arguments about causation in this Appeal are beyond the scope of the appeal.

#### **B. Standard and Scope of Review**

The threshold issue in this case is whether Blasdell deserted his wife to justify denying him survivor benefits pursuant to Iowa Code Section 85.42. The petition was timely under Iowa Code Section 85.26. "Given the binding findings of the commissioner, we next consider the question of whether the application of law to these

facts was "irrational, illogical, or wholly unjustifiable." Iowa Code § 17A.19(10)(m). "When an agency has been clearly vested with the authority to apply law to fact, we will only disturb the agency's application if it is irrational, illogical, or wholly unjustifiable." Clark v. Vicorp Rests., Inc., 696 N.W.2d 596, 603-04 (Iowa 2005). An agency's decision is "irrational" if it is "not governed by or according to reason." Sherwin-Williams Co. v. Iowa Dep't of Revenue, 789 N.W.2d 417, 432 (Iowa 2010). If the decision is "contrary to or devoid of logic," it is "illogical." *Id.* A decision is considered to be "unjustifiable" "when it has no foundation in fact or reason." *Id.* Menard, Inc. v. Scheffert, 860 N.W.2d 925 (Iowa App. 2014).

**A. The Agency's application of the law to the facts regarding whether Blasdell willfully deserted his wife was not supported by substantial evidence and was irrational, illogical and wholly unjustifiable.**

The appeal deputy concluded, "The record indicates that Roger and Heather intended to terminate their marriage relationship in January of 2011." (App. p. 277). There is no evidence in the record to support this finding by the Agency. What the record correctly reflects is that in January of 2011 the Blasdells were having financial issues, as Heather had lost her job, and they could no longer afford the home they were renting to buy. Heather took it upon herself to move out to find a job, while Roger remained there for a few months with Austen, Heather's son. Due to the finances, Roger and Austen then also relocated. The appeal deputy's interpretation of the record

is without foundation. The hearing deputy quickly moves to dispose summarily of two of the central issues when he states:

As noted in the record, the separation between Heather and Roger occurred due to financial reasons. Given this fact, it is found that Roger's willful separation from Heather was without the fault of Heather.

(App. p. 277).

The appeal deputy essentially determined the marriage was over in January of 2011 (App. p. 277). The only event that had occurred at that time was Heather had left their home at Delhi. This does not constitute proof Roger had willfully deserted Heather, or that Heather was without fault.

**i. The Law**

Iowa Code Section 85.42 which addresses survivor death benefits in workers' compensation cases states:

85.42 Conclusively presumed dependent.

The following shall be conclusively presumed to be wholly dependent upon the deceased employee:

1. The surviving spouse, with the following exceptions:

a. When it is shown that at the time of the injury the surviving spouse had willfully deserted the deceased without fault of the deceased, then the surviving spouse shall not be considered as dependent in any degree.

b. When the surviving spouse was not married to the deceased at the time of the injury

“Fault” is not defined in the Code. Using the 2020 edition of the Merriam-Webster Dictionary, the meaning of “fault” is “responsibility for wrongdoing or failing” Merriam-Webster.com/dictionary/fault (emphasis added).

Therefore, in order to deny Blasdell survivor benefits, the facts must be that at, Blasdell had WILLFULLY DESERTED his wife WITHOUT FAULT OF HIS WIFE.

The District Court defined the issue very succinctly when it stated:

A spouse is not required to receive support in order to be considered wholly dependent. Iowa Code Section 85.42(1). The law presumes Claimant wholly dependent on Heather. *Id.* This presumption is subject to the desertion exception, however. *Id.* At 85.42(1)(a). To be clear, in order for this exception to apply, Claimant had to have deserted Heather. *Id.* If Heather deserted Claimant, Claimant would still be eligible for survivor’s benefits *Id.* Likewise, if neither party deserted one another, Claimant is eligible for survivor’s benefits. *Id.* If both parties deserted the marriage, then it cannot be said Heather is without fault, so Claimant would still collect. *Id.* Therefore, the only question the Court need decide is whether Claimant deserted Heather. Iowa Code Section 85.42(1)(a).

Unfortunately, Iowa Code Section 85.42 is an antiquated statute governed by concepts of fault prior to no-fault divorces. As such, we are looking at a 1917 case to govern what constitutes a marriage relationship in the 21<sup>st</sup> century. With the advent of no-fault divorces, the agency scrutinizing marital relationship is inappropriate.

In *James Black Dry Goods, Co. v. Iowa Ind. Commissioner*, 186 N.W. 657, 172 Iowa 23 (1919), the Supreme Court interprets Section 85.42. The *Black* court found that there are five elements necessary to constitute “willful” desertion:

- 1) There is a design to forsake the other spouse without cause, thereby breaking up the marital union;

- 2) Deliberate intent to cease living together;
- 3) Abnegation of all duties of the marital relation;
- 4) The actual ceasing of cohabitation; and
- 5) The intent to desert.

Id. at 664; Id. at 25.

## **ii. The Facts Supported by Substantial Evidence**

Defendants did not bear its burden of proving “at the time of injury” Roger willfully deserted Heather. Roger maintained his relationship with Heather from the time Heather moved to Clinton (January 2011) until she died. The facts show a continued relationship at least until Heather’s death on November 5, 2016. These facts include, and should be received, in the context of the hearing deputy’s demeanor determination, wherein she finds Roger “to be a generally credible witness,” and “his demeanor reflects positively on his case.” (App. p. 264):

- 1) Roger married Heather on August 23, 2008, and they never divorced (App. p. 195; App. pp. 253-254);
- 2) They never divorced because neither of them wanted it. (App. p. 86, Depo. p. 19);
- 3) Angela Lee knew Roger still communicated with Heather (App. pp. 96-97, Depo. pp. 8-9);
- 4) Roger gave money - - usually in \$50 - \$100 allotments - - to Heather on a weekly basis after Heather moved out (App. p. 86, Depo. pp. 19-20; App. pp. 199-200; App. pp. 261-262);
- 5) Roger stayed in weekly contact with Heather both in person and by phone, to discuss personal matters; Id.

- 6) Heather occasionally (5 times a year) gave money to Roger after separation (App. pp. 212-213);
- 7) Roger and Heather split tax liability (App. p. 86, Depo. pp. 19-20);
- 8) Roger and Heather shared tax returns (App. pp. 200, 213);
- 9) Roger and Heather shared emergency designates (Id. at 201-202);
- 10) Roger and Heather shared car insurance (App. p. 205);
- 11) Roger and Heather shared the electric bills (App. p. 209);
- 12) Roger saved his last communication with Heather, after Heather's death (App. p. 211);
- 13) Roger and Heather had a continuing relationship after separation (App. p. 95, Depo. pp. 13-14);
- 14) They met each other in 1997, almost twenty years before death (App. p. 253-254);
- 15) They were married three years (8/23/08) before she left (January 2011) and before her injury – November 5, 2012) (App. p. 195);
- 16) Heather chose to move out only due to financial reasons. (App. pp. 195-196);
- 17) Sharing joint expenses (health insurance) (App. p. 84, Depo. p. 10); (listed on car insurance) (App. p. 84, Depo. p. 11; App. p. 200); (life insurance beneficiary) (App. p. 84, Depo. p. 10);
- 18) Payments of expenses by both (App. pp. 86-87, Depo. pp. 19-21; App. pp. 199, 208, 210);
- 19) Roger continued to care for Heather's son, Austen (App. pp. 197, 208, 216-217; App. pp. 257-258);
- 20) They never filed for a divorce over the entire 56-month period (January 2011 separation to September 9, 2016, date of death); and
- 21) Heather chose to move to Clinton from the Delhi home (App. p. 258).

Despite Linnhaven's REPEATED statement that "Blasdell admitted he separated from Ms. Blasdell because he did not want to pay for her expenses" which they state he says in his deposition, (App. p. 86, Depo. p. 18), that is NOT what he said and is certainly not what happened. He his actual testimony was that after she lost her job he was paying the majority of the expenses and couldn't handle paying the rent by himself. (App. p. 86, Depo. p. 18). Roger would submit a central question to the issue of willful desertion is who left who? Heather chose to leave, move to Clinton, and leave her son Austen with Roger. How does Heather leaving the relationship and moving to Clinton, Iowa, constitute willful desertion by Roger? Moving on to the element of whether there was "fault" attributable to Heather, once again, she chose the affirmative action of leaving Roger and moving to Clinton, Iowa. How does that not constitute fault on behalf of Heather? Neither of these archaic statutory burdens are met regarding a finding to deprive Roger of benefits.

Everything was going fine with their relationship until Heather lost her job, could not find any employment in the Delhi area and she moved to Clinton, Iowa.

Roger testified regarding the financial issues:

Q. Well, why did you separate?

A. It was mostly financial. She lost her job at, I believe, Fitzgerald's Eye Center.

Q. Okay, And because of that, what?

A. I - - I wasn't - - it was around Christmastime, and then I - - we had - - we couldn't afford the place anymore because our rent was pretty close to \$800, and without her working, I wasn't able to do it on my own.

Q. All right. And then so who left?

A. Heather left, actually.

Q. And where did she go, if you know?

A. I believe she went to Clinton, Iowa for a while.

(App. pp. 196-197).

Roger provided greater detail regarding this issue at the rehearing:

Q. As we've been discussing, we're going to go back in time with regard to your relationship with Heather. You were married in what year?

A. In 2008.

Q. And how long had you been together prior to that?

A. We originally met each other in '97.

Q. And did she have a son?

A. Yes, she did.

Q. And who was that?

A. Austin Burrige.

Q. And is that who testified in the original hearing as well?

A. I believe so, yes.

Q. And how old was Austin when you first met him?

A. He was four months old.

Q. And when you were married in 2008, I assume you and Heather were living together?



- A. Yes, that's correct.
- Q. And where was Austin?
- A. Austin lived with us as well at our home.
- Q. And where was the home at that time?
- A. At 1361 330<sup>th</sup> Street, Ryan, Iowa.
- Q. And where is Ryan in relationship to, say, Manchester?
- A. It would be south of Manchester about 15 miles.
- Q. Now, at some point in time you and Heather began living at a home in the Delhi area?
- A. Yes, that is correct.
- Q. And did Austin live with you?
- A. Yes, he did.
- Q. And how was that home acquired?
- A. We pretty much used all of our assets, including income taxes, 401K, and the title of our truck.
- Q. And what was that for?
- A. That was for down payment in good faith for our home that we were renting to buy.
- Q. And how long did you end up staying there?
- A. We stayed there approximately a year.
- Q. And do you recall when you first started living there?
- A. That would have been in 2010, approximately, around February, March, when we got our income taxes and stuff.
- Q. And was Heather employed at a job at that time on a full-time basis?

A. Yes. She was at an eye care place. I believe it was Peterson's here in Cedar Rapids.

Q. And were you employed on a full-time basis?

A. Yes, I was. I was employed at Henderson's in Manchester Iowa.

Q. All right. And what happened with regard to your having to give up that place?

A. Well, financially we had both of our incomes, and we had everything in. We had a pretty - - our payment was \$900 a month, and Heather ended up losing her job at the eye care place, and that was right around - - that was in December of 2010, shortly before Christmastime.

Q. And as a result of her losing her job, did the two of you have any discussion about being able to continue to afford that place?

A. Yes. She looked for employment around our area because she was a medical assistant, and that's what she earned her degree in, and she was looking for employment to use that degree. And unfortunately, in the area that we lived in, it's very a small-town community, and she wasn't having any luck there, and from there she ended up finding - - or talking with one of her high-school friends and looked for employment around the Clinton, Iowa area. It's approximately - - it's my hometown, pretty much. I lived across the river in Illinois.

Q. Okay. And how far away was Clinton from Delhi?

A. It is about an hour and a half drive.

Q. And what kind of discussion did you have about her leaving to go to Clinton?

A. I believed we could figure out a way to work it out and, you know, we're going to be together, we'll figure it out. And she felt as if she could find employment elsewhere, and it wasn't what I wanted, but it's what she had to do in order to try and keep the house in Delhi.

Q. And as a result did she end up going to Clinton?

A. Yes. She moved there for a few months, I believe, and didn't have success finding employment there either.

Q. Did she move there with her possessions?

A. No, she didn't take any of her possessions. I ended up - - yeah, she didn't take anything, other than clothes and the truck.

Q. And what did Austin do?

A. He remained with me. He was enrolled at the West Delaware High School in Manchester.

Q. After she left, you stayed there how much longer?

A. I stayed there about three, four months. Yeah, I realized that I could not afford to make the payments without her assistance.

Q. And whose choice was it to leave - - for her to leave to go to Clinton?

A. That was her own choice. She believed she could find employment there.

(App. pp. 253-258).

Defendants have attempted to construe testimony of Roger to reflect he separated from Heather due to financial differences, specifically not wanting to pay for her expenses. The Defendants' construction is an obvious attempt to characterize Roger's actions as willful desertion with no fault on behalf of Heather. Roger would submit Heather bears responsibility for their separation, she was not without fault.

iii. **Application of the law to the facts shows Blasdell did not willfully desert his wife without his wife having some "fault."**

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